No. 13-109679-A

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS, Plaintiff/Appellee

v.

MICHAEL D. PLUMMER, Defendant/Appellant

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Appeal from the District Court of Pottawatomie County, Kansas Honorable Jeff Elder, Judge District Court Case No. 12 TR 383

> JOHN W. THURSTON Supreme Court ID 20214 Addair Thurston, Chartered 900 Poyntz Avenue Manhattan, Kansas 66502 Telephone: (785) 776-2000 Attorney for Appellant

Oral argument requested: 15 Minutes

#### No. 13-109679-A

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS, Plaintiff/Appellee

v.

MICHAEL D. PLUMMER, Defendant/Appellant

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Nature of the Case.
Issue on Appeal.
<u>Facts</u> 2
Arguments and Authorities 3
Scope of Review3
State v. Gray, 270 Kan. 793, 796, 18 P.3d 962 (2001)
State v. Jones, 270 Kan. 526,527, 17 P.3d 359 (2001)
State v. Hill, 281 Kan. 136, 141, 139 P.3d 1 (2006)
State v. McGinnis, 290 Kan. 547, 552, 233 P.3d 246, 252 (2010)
State v. Thompson, 284 Kan. 763, 775, 166 P.3d 1015 (2007)
State v. Reason, 263 Kan. 405, 410, 951 P.2d 538 (1997)
Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434, 111 S.Ct. 2382, 115 L.Ed.2d 389 (1991)5
State v. Lee, 283 Kan. 771, 775, 156 P.3d 1284 (2007)5
State v. Morris, 276 Kan. 11, 19–20, 72 P.3d 570 (2003)5
State v. Gross, 39 Kan.App.2d 788, 798–800, 184 P.3d 978 (2008)5
State v. Baacke, 261 Kan. 422, 932 P.2d 396 (1997)5
K.S.A. 22-24028
State v. Campbell, 948 P.2d 684 (Kan. App. 1997)8
United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 7, 109 S.Ct. 1581, 1585, 104 L.Ed.2d 1 (1989)8
State v. DeMarco, 263 Kan. 727, 952 P2d 1276 (1998)
City of Hutchinson v. Davenport, 30 Kan. App. 2d 1097; 54 P.3d 532 (2002)8
Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 83 S.Ct. 407, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963)8

Conclusion	 	
Certificate of Service		10

#### No. 13-109679-A

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS, Plaintiff/Appellee

v.

MICHAEL D. PLUMMER, Defendant/Appellant

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Appeal from the District Court of Pottawatomie County, Kansas Honorable Jeff Elder, Judge District Court Case No. 12 TR 383

# **NATURE OF THE CASE**

Mr. Plummer was convicted, by bench trial on stipulated facts, of a first offense misdemeanor Driving Under the Influence charge. He now appeals the district court's decision to deny his motion to suppress. Said motion was based upon the police officer's

lack of a reasonable and articulable suspicion that Mr. Plummer was engaged in criminal activity, upon which the officer based his detention.

# **ISSUE ON APPEAL**

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR.
PLUMMER'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS BECAUSE DEPUTY RICE UNLAWFULLY
SEIZED AND DETAINED MR. PLUMMER WITHOUT REASONABLE SUSPICION.

# **FACTS**

Officers of the Pottawatomie County Sheriff's Office were dispatched to a rural location based on reports of a "pasture party" where underage drinking was alleged to be occurring. (ROA. vol. II, p. 5) Upon arriving at the scene Deputy Dale Rice observed a pickup truck driving in the field in question. (ROA. vol. II, p. 6) Seeing this the deputy parked his car and turned off his headlights, apparently to lie in wait for the pickup. (ROA. vol. II, p. 6) The pickup approached the gate to exit the field. No driving problems or errors indicating possible impairment were observed. Deputy Rice turned on his headlights, and possibly his rear directional flashers. (ROA. vol. II, pp. 6-7) The driver of the pickup (Mr. Plummer) got out of his truck and approached the gate. Deputy Rice did the same, but from the opposite side of the gate. (ROA. vol. II, p. 6) A conversation ensued wherein the deputy questioned Mr. Plummer about his activities and reason for being in the area. (ROA. vol. II, pp. 7-8) It should be noted that the defendant is in his mid-40s and there was no reasonable suspicion that he was involved in any

illegal activity at the alleged underage party. The deputy observed that the defendant had bloodshot eyes, but he did not observe an odor of intoxicants or any other indications of impairment. (ROA. vol. II, p. 9) There is no evidence on the record that Mr. Plummer had slurred speech. He showed no difficulties getting out of his truck, walking, or any other problems with his balance or coordination. The deputy demanded the defendant's license. (ROA. vol. II, p. 6) He asked the defendant if he had been drinking. The defendant denied drinking. (ROA. vol. II, p. 7)

After seizing the defendant's license another individual approached the gate from the pasture side. (ROA. vol. II, p. 8) Deputy Rice engaged in a brief conversation with this person. (ROA. vol. II, p. 9) At some point another officer arrived and joined the conversation at the gate. (ROA. vol. II, p. 9) The deputy had the defendant's license and was physically blocking the defendant's exit from the pasture to the roadway. (ROA. vol. II, pp. 25-26) The second officer noticed an odor of intoxicants coming from the defendant and relayed this to Deputy Rice. (ROA. vol. II, p. 9) Deputy Rice then noticed the odor as well and asked the defendant to perform some field sobriety tests. (ROA. vol. II, pp. 9-10) The initial encounter, from the time Deputy Rice met the defendant at the gate to the time he began evaluating him for Driving Under the Influence (hereafter "DUI") lasted approximately ten minutes. (ROA. vol. II, p. 20)

The defendant could not perform physical tests due to a medical issue with his back. (ROA. vol. II, p. 41) He did not complete two mental coordination tests to the deputy's satisfaction. (ROA. vol. II, p. 42) He submitted to a preliminary breath test, which resulted in a reading of .121. (ROA. vol. II, p. 58) He was arrested and taken to

the jail where he submitted to a blood test. The results of the KBI testing of the defendant's blood were .15. (ROA. vol. I, p. 31)

#### **ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES**

Scope of Review: When reviewing a motion to suppress evidence, the appellate court reviews the facts underlying the district court's suppression decision by a substantial competent evidence standard and the ultimate legal conclusion drawn from those facts by a de novo standard. The ultimate determination of the suppression of evidence is a legal question requiring the reviewing court's independent determination. *State v. Gray*, 270 Kan. 793, 796, 18 P.3d 962 (2001). Furthermore, "when the facts material to a decision of the court on a motion to suppress evidence are not in dispute, the question of whether to suppress is a question of law over which this court has unlimited review." *State v. Jones*, 270 Kan. 526, 527, 17 P.3d 359 (2001).

Kansas law recognizes four categories of police-citizen encounters: voluntary encounters, investigatory detentions, public safety stops, and arrests. *State v. Hill*, 281 Kan. 136, 141, 139 P.3d 1 (2006). This was not a traditional traffic stop, thus the question to be answered is: at what point did this encounter become an investigatory detention. Once that is determined, we must decide whether or not Deputy Rice possessed the reasonable and articulable suspicion needed to justify that detention.

A seizure does not occur simply because a police officer approaches an individual and asks a few questions. *State v. McGinnis*, 290 Kan. 547, 552, 233 P.3d 246, 252 (2010). The United States Supreme Court has developed a "totality of the circumstances" test to determine if there is a seizure, or instead a consensual encounter. See *State v. Thompson*, 284 Kan. 763, 775, 166 P.3d 1015 (2007). "[U]nder the test, law enforcement

interaction with a person is consensual, not a seizure if, under the totality of the circumstances, the law enforcement officer's conduct conveys to a reasonable person that he or she was free to refuse the requests or otherwise end the encounter." 284 Kan. at 775, 166 P.3d 1015. Stated another way, "'[s]o long as a reasonable person would feel free to "disregard the police and go about his business," [citation omitted], the encounter is consensual and no reasonable suspicion is required.' "State v. Reason, 263 Kan. 405, 410, 951 P.2d 538 (1997) (quoting Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434, 111 S.Ct. 2382, 115 L.Ed.2d 389 [1991]).

Over the years the Kansas courts have recognized several objective factors to help determine whether or not an encounter between a police officer and a citizen is classified as either voluntary or a seizure. "This nonexhaustive and nonexclusive list includes: the presence of more than one officer, the display of a weapon, physical contact by the officer, use of a commanding tone of voice, activation of sirens or flashers, a command to halt or to approach, and an attempt to control the ability to flee." See *State v. Lee*, 283 Kan. 771, 775, 156 P.3d 1284 (2007); *State v. Morris*, 276 Kan. 11, 19–20, 72 P.3d 570 (2003); *State v. Gross*, 39 Kan.App.2d 788, 798–800, 184 P.3d 978 (2008). (Quoting *State v. McGinnis*, 290 Kan. 547, 553, 233 P.3d 246, 252 (2010)).

This last factor has been addressed a number of times by the Kansas appellate courts, and it is certainly a factor present in this case. In *State v. Reason*, 263 Kan. 405, 410, 951 P.2d 538 (1997), the defendant argued that he was seized when the officer used his cruiser to block the defendant's car and prevent him from leaving. The defendants also relied heavily on this factor in *State v. Baacke*, 261 Kan. 422, 932 P.2d 396 (1997) and *State v. McGinnis*, cited above. In each of these cases the appellate court ruled that

the police-citizen encounters were voluntary. However, in each of these cases the Courts also noted that the records contained evidence that the defendants' vehicles actually did have room to maneuver and could have been driven away.

In this case Mr. Plummer's exit from the pasture was blocked by the officer. While the officer tried to take care not to block the entrance with his police cruiser, he stood directly in front of the gate throughout the encounter with Mr. Plummer. The undisputed testimony was that the gate opened outwards, in the direction of the officer. (ROA, vol. II, p. 25) Mr. Plummer could not have ignored the officer's requests and simply gone on his way. Had he opened the gate to exit the pasture he would have struck Deputy Rice. (ROA, vol. II, p. 25) While their conversation was taking place, another officer arrived and parked near the entrance. Thus there were two officers blocking the gate. Mr. Plummer testified that had he attempted to open the gate and leave, the gate would have struck one of the two police cars. (ROA, vol. II, pp. 25-26) This evidence was not disputed. Both officers were present at the hearing and available to present opposing testimony to these facts. In addition, in order to carry its burden at the hearing the State could have presented testimony that there were other means of egress from the pasture. No such evidence was presented.

Clearly the officers controlled Mr. Plummer's ability to flee. As noted above, there is no one controlling factor the court examines when determining whether or not a seizure occurred. There were two officers present, which is also a factor tending to indicate a seizure occurred. There were pointed questions directed at Mr. Plummer. Deputy Rice informed him he was looking into possible illegal activity (the pasture party), and he asked Mr. Plummer if he knew anything about it. He asked Mr. Plummer

if he had been drinking that night. He demanded identification from Mr. Plummer early in the encounter and never returned Mr. Plummer's license.

The State has argued that a seizure did not occur until Deputy Rice ordered Mr. Plummer to exit the pasture to perform field sobriety testing. Again, this evaluation began approximately ten minutes after the initial contact between Mr. Plummer and Deputy Rice. (ROA, vol. II, p. 20) Mr. Plummer testified that he did not feel free to leave the area. (ROA, vol. II, pp. 26, 27) The question is, would a reasonable person feel free to leave? To answer this question, let us review the facts.

The reasonable person is driving his pickup through a pasture. He approaches the gate to exit the pasture. He gets out of his truck to open the gate. As he walks up to the gate he sees a police car parked outside the gate and an officer approaching the gate from the opposite side. The reasonable person is asked for his license. He is asked a number of questions, including whether or not he has been drinking. The officer is standing in front of the gate, so it cannot be opened without striking the officer. During this time another citizen arrives and is briefly questioned by the officer. However this citizen is not asked to produce identification and is allowed to leave the area. (ROA, vol. II, pp. 8-9) Questioning of the reasonable person continues. A second officer arrives. Now the gate is blocked by two officers and at least one police car. The questioning continues. It has been nearly ten minutes since the reasonable person first encountered the deputy.

Time is relative. To an appellate attorney, ten minutes is not nearly enough time to effectively present oral argument to the Court of Appeals. To the panel, that same ten minutes might seem an eternity. Being questioned by the police out in a field for ten

minutes is a long, long time. Under the circumstances present in this case, it is inconceivable that a reasonable person would feel free to simply leave the scene.

The stopping of a suspect requires that a police officer must have a reasonable and articulable suspicion, based upon objective facts, that person to be stopped has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a crime. K.S.A. 22-2402; *State v. Campbell*, 948 P.2d 684 (Kan. App. 1997).

Something more than an unparticularized suspicion or hunch must be articulated. United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 7, 109 S.Ct. 1581, 1585, 104 L.Ed.2d 1 (1989); State v. DeMarco, 263 Kan. 727, 952 P2d 1276 (1998).

The State has argued in this case that the seizure did not occur until Deputy Rice ordered Mr. Plummer to step out of the pasture to perform field sobriety testing. Again, this occurred nearly ten minutes into their contact when the deputy noticed the odor of intoxicants. Even at this point the detention is not supported by the facts or the law. Bloodshot eyes, even when combined with an odor of intoxicants, do not constitute the requisite level of evidence needed to support the stop and seizure of an individual. *City of Hutchinson v. Davenport*, 30 Kan. App. 2d 1097; 54 P.3d 532 (2002).

Mr. Plummer was unlawfully seized by Deputy Rice. All the evidence obtained as a result of this seizure must be suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree. See *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 83 S.Ct. 407, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963).

#### CONCLUSION

The district court erred in its determination as to when the initial encounter became a detention. Thus it erred in denying Mr. Plummer's motion to suppress. Deputy

Rice effectively seized and detained Mr. Plummer without reasonable and articulable suspicion.