No. 13-109679-A

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

MAY 1 9 2014

CAROL G. GREEN CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

STATE OF KANSAS Plaintiff-Appellee

VS.

MICHAEL D. PLUMMER Defendant-Appellant

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE** 

Appeal from the District Court of Pottawatomie County, Kansas Honorable Jeff Elder, Judge District Court Case No. 12 TR 383

> Sherri Schuck, #20509 Pottawatomie County Attorney 108 N. First P.O. Box 219 Westmoreland, Kansas 66549 (785) 457-3511 (785) 457-3896 (fax) schuck@pottcountyatty.org

Attorney for Appellee

Approved

MAY 15 2014

Attorney General of Kansas BY N C S. Ct. Rule 6.10

#

Statement of the Issues	
Statement	<u>of the Facts</u>
Arguments and Authorities	
Issue I:	The district court did not err in denying the defendant's motion to suppress
	State v. Woolverton, 284 Kan. 59, 159 P.3d 985 (2007). 5   State v. Fitzgerald, 286 Kan. 1124, 192 P.3d 171 (2009). 5   State v. N. Thomas, 291 Kan. 676, 246 P.3d 678 (2011). 6   State v. McGinnis, 290 Kan. 547, 233 P.3d 246 (2010). 6, 7, 8, 9   State v. Thompson, 284 Kan 763, 166 P.3d 1015 (2007). 6, 7   Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 103 S.Ct. 1319, 75 L.Ed.2d 229 (1983). 6   State v. Lee, 283 Kan. 771, 156 P.3d 1284 (2007). 7   State v. Morris, 276 Kan. 11, 72 P.3d 570 (2003). 7   State v. Gross, 39 Kan. App. 2d 788, 184 P.3d 978 (2008). 7   State v. McGinnis, 40 Kan. App. 2d 620, 194 P.3d 46 (2009). 8, 9   State v. Parker, 282 Kan. 584, 147 P.3d 115 (2206). 9   United States v. Thompson, 546 F.3d 1223 (10th Cir. 2008). 9
Conclusion	<u>n</u>
Certificate	of Service

No. 13-109679-A

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS Plaintiff-Appellee

VS.

MICHAEL D. PLUMMER Defendant-Appellant

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

Nature of the Case

The defendant, Michael D. Plummer, was convicted by bench trial on stipulated facts to a first offense DUI on January 17, 2013. The defendant appeals the district court's denial of his motion to suppress.

#### **Statement of the Issues**

Issue I: The district court did not err in denying the defendant's motion to suppress.

#### **Statement of the Facts**

The defendant was convicted of driving under the influence (first offense) after a trial on stipulated facts. (I, 30-32; III, 1-7) Prior to trial, the defendant filed a motion to suppress for lack of reasonable suspicion to detain. (I, 17-19) The following testimony was taken at the hearing on the defendant's motion. (II, 4-28)

On April 21, 2012, just after midnight, deputies with the Pottawatomie County Sheriff's Office were dispatched to a rural area in the vicinity of Gasser Road and Flint Rock Road. (II, 4-5) The dispatch was in reference to a reported juvenile party in a pasture with a green gate off of Flint Rock Road. (II, 5) Sgt. Rice arrived in the area at approximately 12:25 a.m. (II, 5) He observed an unusually high amount of vehicle traffic on Flint Rock Road with a vehicle entering into a pasture off of Flint Rock Road. (II, 5) When the officer proceeded to the location he observed the vehicle enter into the pasture and observed a closed gate at the area. (II, 6) The officer drove a short way and turned his vehicle around. (II, 6) As he did so, he observed a bonfire off in the pasture and another vehicle appeared to be coming from the bonfire, down the road towards the gate. (II, 6)

After observing the vehicle approaching the gate, Sgt. Rice pulled his vehicle along the side of the road, shut his headlights off and waited to see if the vehicle was leaving. (II, 6) The vehicle did appear to be leaving the pasture, so Sgt. Rice turned on his headlights and pulled up towards the gate. (II, 6) The driver of the approaching vehicle got out of his car and approached the gate. (II, 6) Sgt. Rice parked his vehicle, with only his headlights on, to the north of the field access. (II, 6) Sgt. Rice approached the gate on foot and testified his vehicle did not block the gate and vehicles could come and go from the area. (II, 7, 12)

Sgt. Rice made contact with the driver, who would eventually be identified as the defendant, Michael Plummer. (II, 7) Sgt. Rice advised the defendant he was investigating a report of a juvenile party in the area. (II, 8) He asked the defendant whether he owned the property to which the defendant told him that he leased the

property. (II, 21-22) Sgt. Rice could see the bonfire in the pasture and asked the defendant about the fire and whether any juveniles were on the property drinking. (II, 8, 22) The defendant indicated he did not know what was going on in the pasture and was out checking cattle. (II, 8, 22) Sgt. Rice had observed the defendant to have bloodshot eyes and asked if the defendant had been drinking here tonight to which the defendant stated that he had not. (II, 9, 14-15) Sgt. Rice asked the defendant for ID, to which the defendant provided a Kansas driver's license. (II, 15, 22)

At approximately the same time Sgt. Rice was inquiring about ID, another vehicle pulled up behind the defendant's vehicle. (II, 8,22) This vehicle came from the direction of the bonfire in the pasture. (II, 9) Also, Sgt. Chris Schmidt arrived on scene as well. (II, 9) Sgt. Schmidt parked his vehicle on the south side of the access gate, but again, did not block the gate. (II, 9, 18) Sgt. Rice spoke to the youthful individuals that pulled up behind the defendant's vehicle, about any juvenile party taking place in the pasture. (II, 9, 22) The occupants of the vehicle confirmed there was a party in the pasture and that people were drinking. (II, 9, 22) Sgt. Rice indicated that at this time, Sgt. Schmidt also approached him and indicated he could smell an odor of alcohol coming from the defendant at the gate. (II, 9)

On cross examination, Sgt. Rice testified that the defendant could have left the area through the gate, and although he was standing by the gate to speak with the defendant about the call, he would have moved. (II, 14, 16-17) Sgt. Rice further testified that at the time he asked the defendant for ID, he would have been free to ignore the request. (II, 15-17) Sgt. Rice testified he asked for ID because the defendant had told him that he leased the property and was checking cattle, but did not know what was going

on in the pasture where a bonfire was taking place. (II, 22) When the deputy asked the defendant for his ID, only he and the defendant were present and standing on opposite sides of the pasture gate. (II, 17)

On re-direct, Sgt. Rice testified he requested the defendant to submit to field sobriety tests because of the bloodshot eyes, odor of alcohol, denial of consuming alcohol and knowing the defendant had just left a juvenile party. (II, 23) Sgt. Rice testified that from the time he first met the defendant at the gate to the point he was no longer free to leave was five minutes or less. (II, 19)

The defendant also testified at the suppression hearing. (II, 25-28) On direct examination, he testified the officer was blocking the gate by standing in front it. (II, 25) He testified he did not feel free to leave and that he did not really feel he could refuse to provide ID. (II, 25-26) On cross examination, the defendant acknowledged that when asked for his ID it was only he and Sgt. Rice present. (II, 27) He further admitted that prior to evaluating him for DUI, the questions Sgt. Rice asked him were related to his investigation of a juvenile party. (II, 27)

At the conclusion of this testimony, the parties presented argument to the court. (II, 28-38) The court took the motion under advisement. (II, 38) The court issued an order denying the motion to suppress ruling the initial encounter was voluntary, and it ceased to be one at the point the officer began inquiry into sobriety tests. (I, 20-21) The defendant filed additional arguments and authorities to the court. (I, 28-29) The court again addressed the defendant's motion briefly just prior to the trial on stipulated facts and again overruled the defendant's motion to suppress for lack of reasonable suspicion. (III, 2) The matter proceeded to trial with a continuing objection noted by defense

counsel. (III, 4) The defendant was convicted. (III, 4-5) Defendant was sentenced on March 12, 2103. (I, 33) The defendant timely appeals. (I, 35-36)

#### **Arguments and Authorities**

Issue I: The district court did not err in denying the defendant's motion to suppress.

## **Standard of Review**

"An appellate court reviews the district court's decision on a motion to suppress using a bifurcated standard. Without reweighing the evidence, the district court's findings are reviewed to determine whether they are supported by substantial competent evidence. Then the ultimate legal conclusion regarding the suppression of evidence is reviewed using a de novo standard." *State v. Woolverton*, 284 Kan. 59, 70, 159 P.3d 985 (2007).

"When the facts material to a trial court's decision on a motion to suppress evidence are not in dispute, the question of whether to suppress is a question of law over which an appellate court has unlimited review." *State v. Fitzgerald*, 286 Kan. 1124, 1126, 192 P.3d 171 (2008).

#### **Analysis**

The defendant argues he was seized by Sgt. Rice, without reasonable suspicion, when he initially encountered the officer at the pasture gate. Appellant's Brief at 6-8. The state argues the initial encounter with the defendant was a voluntary encounter and did not become investigatory until the time Sgt. Rice asked the defendant to submit to field sobriety tests.

"[A] voluntary encounter is not considered a seizure and is not afforded protection by the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution." *State v. N. Thomas*, 291 Kan. 676, 682, 246 P.3d 678, 683 (2011)(citing *State v. McGinnis*, 290 Kan. 547, 551, 233 P.3d 246 (2010)). A "totality of the circumstances" test is used to determine whether there is a seizure or a consensual encounter. See *State v. Thompson*, 284 Kan 763, 775, 166 P.3d 1015 (2007). Under the test, interaction between law enforcement and another person is consensual if the officer's conduct "conveys to a reasonable person that he or she is free to refuse the requests or otherwise end the encounter." *Id.* at 775.

'[L]aw enforcement officers do not violate the Fourth Amendment by merely approaching an individual on the street or in another public place, by asking him if he is willing to answer some questions, [or] by putting questions to him if the person is willing to listen...[Citations omitted.] Nor would the fact that the officer identifies himself as a police officer, without more, convert the encounter into a seizure requiring some level of objective justification. [Citations omitted.] The person approached, however, need not answer any questions put to him; indeed, he may decline to listen to the questions at all and may go on his way. [Citations omitted.]

N. Thomas, 291 Kan. at 683(citing Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 497-98, 103 S.Ct. 1319, 75 L.Ed.2d 229 (1983)) See Thompson, 284 Kan. 763, Syl. ¶ 17, 166 P.3d 1015 ("Law enforcement questioning, by itself, is unlikely to result in Fourth Amendment violation. Unless the surrounding conditions are so intimidating as to demonstrate that a reasonable person would have believed he or she was not free to disregard the questions, there has been no intrusion upon the detained person's liberty or privacy that would implicate the Fourth Amendment.").

Over the years, Kansas courts have recognized several objective factors to help determine whether a law enforcement-citizen encounter is voluntary or an investigatory detention.

This nonexhaustive and nonexclusive list includes: the presence of more than one officer, the display of a weapon, physical contact by the officer, use of a commanding tone of voice, activation of sirens or flasher, a command to halt or to approach, and an attempt to control the ability to flee. See State v. Lee, 283 Kan. 771, 775, 156 P.3d 1284 (2007); State v. Morris, 276 Kan. 11, 19-20, 72 P.3d 570 (2003); State v. Gross, 39 Kan. App. 2d 788, 798-800, 184 P.3d 978 (2008). There is no rigid application of these factors; instead, we analyze the facts of each case independently. We have held that "[i]n applying the totality of the circumstances test in a Fourth Amendment context, no one factor is legally determinative, dispositive, or paramount. The outcome does not turn on the presence or absence of a single controlling or infallible touchstone and requires careful scrutiny of all the surrounding circumstances." Thompson, 284 Kan 763, Syl. ¶ 20, 166 P.3d 1015. On the other hand, "we do not expect courts to merely count the number of factors weighing on one side of the determination or the other. In the totality of the circmstances, a factor may be more indicative of a coercive atmosphere in one case than in another. [Citations omitted.]" 284 Kan at 804, 166 P.3d 1015.

State v. McGinnis, 290 Kan. 547, 553, 233 P.3d 246, 252 (2010).

The defendant argues a reasonable person would not have felt free to leave under the totality of circumstances facing him. Appellant's Brief at 7. He bases his argument on the officer's position at the gate, the initial questions asked by law enforcement, a request for identification, the presence of another officer and the duration of inquiry being approximately ten minutes between initial contact and the request for field sobriety tests. Appellant's Brief at 7. The defendant places a lot of emphasis on the position of Sgt. Rice and his vehicle. Appellant's Brief at 6.

The facts in this case are similar to *State v. McGinnis*. In *McGinnis*, the officer was dispatched to a call regarding a possible stolen vehicle submerged in a creek. See

290 Kan. at 548-49. The officer responded to the area and observed McGinnis' vehicle going the same direction. See *Id.* at 549. The officer followed McGinnis' vehicle and observed its movements until it stopped at the riverbank. See *id.* The officer parked his vehicle approximately two or three car lengths behind McGinnis and approached him on foot. See *id.* 

When the officer approached McGinnis, he said hello, asked how he was doing and whether he knew anything about the submerged car. See *id*. McGinnis denied any knowledge of the vehicle, and indicated he was looking for a fishing spot. See *id*. At this time, the officer noticed slurred speech, bloodshot eyes, and an odor of alcohol coming from McGinnis and began an investigation of DUI. See *id*. 549-50. McGinnis was subsequently arrested and charged with felony DUI. See *id*. at 550. McGinnis filed a motion to suppress based upon unlawful restraint/seizure without reasonable suspicion. See *id*. The motion was denied, and McGinnis was convicted after a trial on stipulated facts. See *id*. On appeal, the Kansas Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's denial of the suppression motion finding:

"Here, Clark was the only law enforcement officer involved in the encounter. Significantly, he parked his patrol vehicle two or three car lengths behind McGinnis' car, and the evidence was undisputed that McGinnis' car was not blocked from leaving the driveway. Clark did not activate his emergency lights when he exited his patrol vehicle. Clark approached McGinnis on foot and did not brandish any weapons. The evidence established that Clark spoke in a normal voice and he did not command McGinnis to stop or to answer any questions. Clark did nothing to convey to McGinnis that he was being detained against his will. Viewed objectively, McGinnis was free to leave, and he could have declined to answer Clark's initial questions. Under the totality of circumstances, the initial encounter between Clark and McGinnis was voluntary.

Id. at 550-51(quoting State v. McGinnis, 40 Kan. App. 2d 620, 627-28, 194 P.3d 46 (2009)). The Kansas Supreme Court granted petition for review. See id. at 554. The Supreme Court concluded that the trial court found from the officer's testimony that his vehicle did not block McGinnis' vehicle, and because an appellate court does not "weigh conflicting evidence or redetermine questions of fact," easily concluded there was substantial competent evidence supporting the factual findings. Id.

The Supreme Court analyzed *State v. Parker*, 282 Kan. 584, 147 P.3d 115 (2206) (voluntary encounter found where officer parked his marked unit behind two cars in a driveway and rejecting that this alone would constitute a show of authority) as giving great guidance concerning placement of law enforcement vehicles as a factor in a seizure test. See *id.* at 554. The Kansas Supreme Court further stated that even if McGinnis' vehicle was blocked by the officer's car, this fact, alone, is not dispositive of the voluntariness of the encounter. See *id.* at 561. "Where an individual is on foot when approached by the police officer, the fact that his car may be blocked does not, in itself, render the person's decision to answer questions or consent to a search involuntary." *Id.* (quoting *United States v. Thompson*, 546 F.3d 1223, 1229 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2008). The Supreme Court affirmed the Kansas Court of Appeals and the trial court in the denial of the defendant's motion to suppress, finding the encounter to be voluntary. See *id.* at 562.

As in the *McGinnis* case, Sgt. Rice approached the defendant on foot, who was also on foot. (II, 6) The officer did not display any lights other than his vehicle's headlights and parked his vehicle so as not to block the gate. (II, 6) The officer remained on the opposite side of the gate from the defendant. (II, 17) The officer advised the defendant of his purpose for being there, and the questions asked of him were in relation

to the investigation of a juvenile party. (II, 8-9, 21-22, 27) The defendant himself testified that the conversation he had with Sgt. Rice up to an including being asked for ID involved only himself and the officer. (II, 27)

Sgt. Rice testified that if the defendant had refused to provide ID or walked away at this point, he would have been free to leave. (II, 15-16) It was immediately after being asked for ID that the other vehicle and Sgt. Schmidt arrived. (II, 8, 22) At this time, the occupants of the other vehicle confirmed a juvenile party at the bonfire and the consumption of alcohol, and Sgt. Schmidt relayed the odor of alcohol. (II, 9, 22) Here Sgt. Rice testified the defendant was no longer free to leave as he had bloodshot eyes, denied knowledge of a party where alcohol was being consumed, had an odor of alcohol and was seen driving from the location of the party. (II, 23)

In denying the defendant's motion, the court issued a written order. (I, 20-22) The trial court found law enforcement was investigating a juvenile party believed to be in the pasture. (I, 20) The officer noted heavy vehicle traffic in the area. (I, 20) The defendant's vehicle approached the pasture gate and stopped, and the defendant exited his vehicle. (I, 20) Sgt. Rice approached on foot, having parked his vehicle "to the side of the gatted (sic) opening to the pasture." (I, 20) The initial contact between the officer and the defendant was voluntary until the officer requested sobriety tests. (I, 21) The court found there was reasonable suspicion based on the odor of alcohol, denial of drinking and bloodshot eyes for the officer to continue to detain the defendant. (I, 21)

Under the totality of the circumstances, it is clear that the officer's conduct did not convey to the defendant that he was not free to leave or refuse the requests of the officer or end the encounter.

## Conclusion

The state respectfully requests the court affirm the district judge's denial of the defendant's motion to suppress as the initial encounter between Sgt. Rice and defendant was voluntary.